### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD G. RESHA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 83,597

KATIE D. TUCKER,

Respondent.

REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION
OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Richard E. Johnson Fla. Bar No. 858323 Spriggs & Johnson 324 West College Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 224-8700

William A. Friedlander Fla. Bar. No. 127194 424 E. Call Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 224-0900

Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For the convenience of the Court, Petitioner will follow the record reference system used by the parties in the court below. The trial court record will be referenced by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number(s). The symbols "R1" and "R2" will be used to designate the first and second supplements to the record on appeal. The trial transcript, found in the record on appeal at pages 1302-2529, will be referred to by the symbol "T", followed by the original page number, rather than the record page number.

### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner seeks review of a question certified by the First District Court of Appeal:

DOES A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION GIVE RISE TO AN ACTION FOR MONEY DAMAGES?

Tucker v. Resha, 634 So. 2d 756, 760 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Petitioner also seeks review of the decision of the court below that absolute immunity should have barred Petitioner's defamation action against Respondent. The Court may consider the entire case below on certified question jurisdiction or may exercise independent jurisdiction over the defamation issue because it expressly affects a class of state or constitutional officers, expressly conflicts with the rulings of other district courts, and expressly conflicts with rulings of the Florida Supreme Court. Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii), and (iv), Fla. R. App. P.; also Article

### V, § (3)(b)(3), Fla. Const. 1

Facts necessary to this review are essentially those recited by the court below.

The court below overturned a jury verdict for Resha for defamation and invasion of constitutional privacy.

Tucker had become executive director of the Florida Department of Revenue in 1988 and had immediately turned that agency's attention to Resha.

The invasion of constitutional privacy count arose from Tucker's use of the machinery of government to order various investigations of Resha in retaliation for his political opposition to her and her husband. This included illegally obtaining a report on Resha from the credit bureau, subjecting him to a criminal investigation, entering upon his premises, examining the records of his two businesses, and examining his personal financial records. The defamation count arose from Tucker fabricating and spreading allegations that Resha was involved in organized crime, tax evasion, money laundering, and illegal trafficking in guns, drugs, and pornography.

The defamatory statements and Resha's financial records became public records as part of an investigation of Tucker and were widely reported in the press.

Petitioner submitted a formal jurisdictional brief on the defamation issue, but undersigned counsel received a call from the clerk advising that the brief was unnecessary since the Court would decide jurisdiction after argument.

The history of Respondent Tucker's antagonism toward Petitioner Resha goes back nearly a decade.

Resha had run against Tucker's husband, Dan Miller, for president of the Florida AFL-CIO in 1985. Tucker described the election as a "nasty battle." (T. 346.) The jury was told that the Miller camp, during that campaign, launched the same slanders against Resha as those that form the basis of this action against Tucker. (T. 422-3, 509-10.).

In 1986, while Tucker was an official of the Department of Labor, FDLE investigated charges that she had misappropriated state funds to build an addition to her home. Four years later, she freely admitted to FDLE that she "knew" that Resha had anonymously made the report to the Governor that caused her to be investigated for the addition to the house. (T. 337-8.)

Resha contended, and the jury apparently agreed, that these events, together with Resha's intention to run against Miller again in the 1989 election, motivated Tucker to use her governmental authority to damage him.

The jury found that the Department of Revenue improperly intruded into Resha's private life, that Tucker caused the intrusion, and that, in doing so, she acted outside the scope of her duties and with improper motive. (R. 1092-3.)

The jury also found that Tucker had defamed Resha and acted outside the scope of her official capacity in doing so. (R. 1091.)

Following denial of her post-trial motions, Tucker appealed

the judgment to the First District Court of Appeal, which reversed the judgment and certified the question now before this Court.

Petitioner believes he should call attention to an offshoot of this case that is still pending before this Court on review of another certified question regarding whether Florida courts are bound by the federal practice of granting an interlocutory appeal to state officials who lose motions for summary judgment on qualified immunity. <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, Case No. 80,991, <u>reviewing</u>, 610 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

In that case, the First District upheld the circuit court's denial of Tucker's motion for summary judgment on qualified immunity. Part of the decision was that Tucker violated clearly established law, the First Amendment, in performing exactly the same acts that form the basis of the defamation and privacy counts in the instant case. The District Court, however, said it might reach a different result had it received the case on plenary appeal for de novo review of legal findings rather than the deferential standard applied to certiorari review.

The two cases are, therefore, intertwined. If Tucker did indeed violate clearly established federal law, which is the present state of legal affairs, that conclusion must spill over into this case because Tucker could not act within the scope of office while acting illegally. She would therefore not be eligible for any privilege or immunity in this case unless the Court

overturns the other <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 610 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in overturning the jury verdict on a theory of sovereign immunity. The state was not a party and no damages were awarded from the state treasury. Tucker alone was liable. It is not legally possible for sovereign immunity to apply to an official sued in her individual capacity.

Even if sovereign immunity could somehow apply, controlling precedent in Florida holds that sovereign immunity may not bar an action for redress of a violation of constitutional rights. Florida statutes and this Court's opinions state that the fact that an action is uniquely governmental does not make it subject to sovereign immunity if it is performed in violation of a person's rights.

Though the availability of money damages for violation of a human right guaranteed by the state constitution is a question of first impression, the courts of our state have long recognized such a remedy for violation of the property rights guaranteed by the state constitution.

Prior case law on the human rights issue has come so close to allowing damages as to make the conclusion foregone. Not to award damages in a situation like this one would be effectively to nullify a provision of the constitution. Substantial Florida case law has repeatedly held that legislative action is not a necessary

precondition to enforcement of the state constitution.

Because damages are the only possible meaningful remedy in this case, the right of access to courts demands that they be allowed. The U.S. Supreme Court has reached that conclusion with respect to federal constitutional rights. American common law as reported in the <u>Restatement</u> supports the proposition. Many other states have concluded that their constitutions allow a direct action for damages for violation of constitutional rights. Several tests have evolved around the country to determine which situations are appropriate for an award of damages for a constitutional violation. Resha passes all known tests.

Tucker is not eligible for an absolute privilege against liability for defamation because she acted outside the scope of her office in making the defamatory statements.

The law of Florida and American common law generally have always recognized an exception to absolute privilege for officials who act beyond the scope of their authority. The scope of office is most plainly exceeded when an official's actions are contrary to established law. Tucker's actions violated numerous laws as well as her department's internal procedures. Moreover, Tucker used her department against Resha with respect to matters outside the department's jurisdiction that properly belong to regular law enforcement agencies rather than the revenue department.

Tucker's claim to a second absolute privilege for statements to law enforcement officers must also fail. Florida law recognizes

no such absolute privilege except in limited circumstances involving subpoenaed testimony taken under oath. Neither of these circumstances existed when Tucker defamed Resha to FDLE officers in a tape recorded interview. The policy behind according any privilege, absolute or qualified, to statements to police is to encourage reporting of crime to protect public safety. Tucker made explicit in her statements to the FDLE that she was not reporting any crime by Resha and did not intend to do so.

If it was error for the trial judge to let the jury decide Tucker was outside the scope of office, it was a harmless error because the judge had already decided it on several occasions. Thus submitting it to the jury could only help Tucker, not hurt her. Status determinations are proper jury questions when key facts are at issue.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE VERDICT FOR DAMAGES UNDER ARTICLE I, § 23.

#### A. THE COURT BELOW INCORRECTLY APPLIED SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY.

Though no damages were awarded against the State of Florida nor against any other governmental entity, the court below still relied on a sovereign immunity argument to reach its conclusion that damages were not available to Resha under Article I, § 23, Fla. Const., which provides in pertinent part:

Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein. The State of Florida was never a defendant in this case. The jury awarded no damages whatever against the state, only against Katie Tucker individually. It is thus not even theoretically possible that sovereign immunity is an issue in this case.

The court below opined that a governmental intrusion action "is ex hypothesis an action against the government rather than against a private person." Tucker v. Resha, 634 So. 2d 756, 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). This conclusion -- the cornerstone of the opinion -- is completely erroneous. King Louis XIV of France was once able to say with credibility, "L'etat c'est moi" ("I am the State.") Contemporary American law, however, separates the individuals who wield governmental power from the government itself. In doing so, it holds official malefactors individually accountable for abuse of power, though that power be uniquely governmental in nature.

Thus a public employee who exercises governmental powers outside the scope of her legitimate authority forfeits the protection of sovereign immunity and is individually and personally liable for damages just as though she were a private citizen. District School Board of Lake County v. Talmadge, 381 So. 2d 698, 702-4 (Fla. 1980). The jury made a special finding that Tucker acted outside the scope of her authority in invading Resha's privacy, (R. 1093), as had the judge on several prior occasions. Thus the immunity of the state and the immunity of officials acting in the legitimate scope of authority have nothing to do with the

issues in this case.

It is extremely important to note how the court below, with no citation at all, plucked from thin air the untenable notion that a government official who injures a citizen through unlawful exercise of governmental power is necessarily protected by sovereign immunity from <u>individual</u> civil liability.

The absence of authority is no accident, because this notion has been uniformly rejected in every American jurisdiction which has considered it, not just in Florida in <a href="Talmadge">Talmadge</a>. The leading authority is probably the seminal -- and unanimous -- opinion of the U.S. Supreme Court in <a href="Hafer v. Melo">Hafer v. Melo</a>, 502 U.S. \_\_\_, 112 S.Ct. 358, 116 L.Ed.2d 301 (1991). That case once and for all establishes the critical distinction between official-capacity suits and individual-capacity suits against officials for abuse of governmental powers. It does so by explaining what the law has always been rather than by making new law: sovereign immunity does not apply to individual-capacity suits against public officers, but actions performed under color of law by defendants such as Tucker are still "state action" even when they are illegal.

The court below, 634 So. 2d at 759, ruled that the state constitutional right to privacy could not be self-executing for

The 1980 amendment to § 768.28(9), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, was meant to change the result of <u>Talmadge</u> with respect to cases involving officials acting within the course and scope of duty, but not those like Tucker who commit intentional torts beyond the scope of office.

purposes of damage suits unless the legislature specifically waived sovereign immunity for this particular cause of action.<sup>3</sup> Even if sovereign immunity could apply in this case -- and it can not -- the holding of the court below violates the established precedent of this Court in <u>State Road Department of Florida v. Tharp</u>, 1 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1941). This delightful and oft-neglected gem from two generations ago remains the controlling authority for the proposition that sovereign immunity does not bar a suit for violation of a constitutional right:

Immunity of the State from suit does not afford relief against an unconstitutional statute or against a duty imposed on a State officer by statute, nor does it afford a State officer relief for trespassing on the rights of an individual even if he assume to act under legal authority.

<u>Id.</u> at 869.

Tharp squarely confronts the claim of the court below that a section of the state constitution requires an explicit statutory waiver of sovereign immunity for any damages suit:

[I]t has no application to the case at bar, and if it did, it should be read in connection with Section 4 of the Bill of Rights [now Article I, § 21] providing that all courts be open in order that every person may seek redress for injury done to his lands, goods, person, or reputation.

Id.

Vindication of a constitutional right must trump sovereign

This, it cannot be overstressed, is despite the fact that the public treasury was not liable for the judgment and the State was not named as a defendant.

immunity in order that our most fundamental rights remain more than "the tinkling of empty words." To do otherwise would "raise administrative boards above the law and clothe them with an air of megalomania" that would jeopardize the rights of citizens and "reverse the order of democracy in this country and head it into a blind alley." Therefore, "in the administration of constitutional guarantees, the State cannot afford to be other than square and generous." All this is "as evident as the rouge on a flapper's face." Id. at 870. That is the controlling law in Florida.

On a more pedestrian level, our contemporary legislature itself recognizes that sovereign immunity is not implicated when the official defendant "acted in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property." § 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat.<sup>5</sup>

This Court has more recently acknowledged the constitutional rights exception to sovereign immunity in <u>Trianon Park Condominium Ass'n</u>, <u>Inc. v. City of Hialeah</u>, 468 So. 2d 912, 918-919 (Fla. 1985), albeit without quite the sparkle of 1941.

In analyzing another subsection of that statute, the court below fell into the error of assuming that an exception to sovereign immunity can not arise for acts that are uniquely governmental in nature. The argument starts with the legislative language about governmental liability being the same as if a private person would be liable. The court below reasons (wrongly) that a "governmental intrusion" can not be caused by a private person, therefore the barrier of sovereign immunity would be insurmountable. This Court has already considered and rejected exactly that argument in <a href="Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Yamuni">Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Yamuni</a>, 529 So. 2d 258, 260-1 (Fla. 1988). The fact that some activities such as investigating child abuse or building miles of highways are not done by private persons does not mean sovereign immunity is impenetrable for those activities. See also <a href="Commercial">Commercial</a> (continued...)

Perhaps most disappointing about the District Court's analysis of the self-execution issue is its assertion, 634 So. 2d at 759, that Resha rests his argument on <u>In Re T.W.</u>, 551 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1989). Resha did not even cite that case to the District Court, let alone rely upon it.

The argument in question was actually advanced by Tucker, not In contrast to the District Court, both litigants agreed that the Florida privacy amendment is self-executing as evidenced by the substantial and coherent body of case law that has arisen from it in the absence of any implementing legislation to effectuate its purpose. Tucker's argument thus far, however, has been that the mere fact that a constitutional provision is selfexecuting for purposes of declaratory and injunctive relief does not necessarily mean that monetary damages may be awarded under it without special enabling legislation. See Tucker's Amended Initial Brief to the District Court at 29. With all respect to the is thus altogether District Court, Tucker's argument formidable than that of the District Court, which relies wholly on a theory of sovereign immunity that is totally irrelevant to the facts of this case. Tucker's argument is rebutted below.

Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So. 2d 1010, 1016-17 (Fla. 1979). Thus the District Court's argument collapses even if we concede its erroneous premise that sovereign immunity is somehow relevant to this case.

# B. FLORIDA LAW SUPPORTS AN AWARD OF MONEY DAMAGES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE STATE CONSTITUTION.

The court below is technically correct in noting that an award of damages for violation of the privacy clause of the Florida Constitution, absent an implementing statute establishing such a cause of action, is a question of first impression, never before specifically decided by an appellate court. However, the question has been so thoroughly surrounded by Florida law that it is merely a matter of filling the smallest of gaps. It is much like a connect-the-dots drawing in which only one small line remains to be drawn to complete the picture.

In the realm of property rights, Florida already allows a direct action for damages for violations of the "takings" clause of Article X, § 6, Fla. Const.<sup>6</sup> E.g., Pinellas County v. Brown, 420 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), rev. den., 430 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1983) (inverse condemnation); Schick v. Dept. of Agriculture, 504 So. 2d 1318 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. den., 513 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1987) (constitutional inverse condemnation action predicated on negligence in nematode eradication program); In Re Forfeiture of 1976 Kenilworth Tractor, 569 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 1990) (damages for failure for two years to honor an order for return of confiscated

The "takings" clause provides in pertinent part:

(a) No private property shall be taken except for a public purpose and with full compensation therefor paid to each owner or secured by deposit in the registry of the court and available to the owner.

Art. X, § 6(a), Fla. Const.

property); <u>Dept. of Agriculture v. Mid-Florida Growers</u>, 521 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 1988) (damages for state destruction of property).

In the realm of human rights, our state courts have perhaps come closest in <u>Schreiner v. McKenzie Tank Lines</u>, 408 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>aff'd</u>, 432 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1983). There, the First District Court, relying on established authority, reaffirmed that constitutional provisions must be construed to make them meaningful. A construction that nullifies a specific clause must be avoided unless absolutely required by the context. Absent such a circumstance, constitutional provisions must be presumed to be self-executing, i.e., capable of serving as an independent basis for a cause of action without the existence of enabling or implementing legislation. To hold otherwise would be to negate the will of the people who approved the amendment, thereby ignoring the paramount consideration of state constitutional jurisprudence. <u>Id</u>. at 714.7

Tucker has made much of the fact that the <u>Schreiner</u> Court noted:

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