0d7

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD G. RESHA,

CASE NO. 83,597

Petitioner,

vs.

KATIE D. TUCKER,

Respondent.

SEP 9 1994

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

McCONNAUGHHAY, ROLAND, MAIDA & CHERR, P.A.

BRIAN S. DUFFY
Florida Bar Number 180007
101 North Monroe Street
P.O. Drawer 229
Tallahassee, FL 32302-0229
(904) 222-8121
FAX (904) 222-4359
Attorneys for Katie D. Tucker

#

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

2. Neither the Federal Bivens Doctrine nor the Decisions of the Courts of any Other State Provide a Suitable Basis for the Judicial Creation of a Cause of Action for Damages to Remedy Governmental Intrusions into Private Life. 11

Resha urges this court to follow the lead of the federal courts and of the courts of the few states which either have created direct causes of action for money damages for violation of constitutional rights or have recognized in dicta such a cause of action. 12 Init.Br. at 17-27. He relies for support primarily on the analysis and decision of the United States Supreme Court in Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S. Ct. 1999, 29 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1971), and its progeny. In an opinion authored by Justice Brennan, the Court created an action for damages against federal agents directly under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 13 Court first rejected actions for damages "in tort, under state law, in the state courts" as inadequate remedies for violation of the Fourth Amendment by federal officials. Id. at 391, 91 S. Ct. at Secondly, the Court did not find any "special factors counselling hesitation in the absence of affirmative action by

sections 760.01-.10 and section 112.042 of the Florida Statutes.  $\underline{Id}$ . at 660.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 11}$  Resha's sub-subpoints 2, 3, 4, and 5 have been combined for purposes of this response.

The American Civil Liberties Union makes these same arguments in its Amicus Brief.

Causes of action for damages against <u>state actors</u> for violation of the federal constitution or laws are expressly authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Congress" to inhibit it from creating the cause of action. <u>Id</u>. at 397-98, 91 S. Ct. at 2005.

Applying the test established in <u>Bivens</u>, the Court in <u>Davis v</u>. Passman, 442 U.S. 228, 99 S. Ct. 2264, 60 L. Ed. 2d 846 (1979), approved an action for damages against a member of Congress for violation of an employee's constitutional right to be free from discrimination on the basis of gender. The primary rationale for the Court's decision was that there was no remedy available to rectify the congressman's discrimination except a judiciallycreated remedy for damages; no remedy was available in equity for reinstatement because the offending party was no longer in Congress. Id. at 245, 99 S. Ct. at 2277. In Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14, 100 S. Ct. 1468, 64 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1980), the Court allowed damages for the death of a prisoner in violation of the Eight Amendment. In reaching this conclusion, the Court noted that, although a partial remedy was available under the Federal Tort Claims Act, Congress had expressly declared its intent that <u>Bivens</u>type remedies were to be parallel and complementary to actions under the FTCA. <u>Id</u>. at 19-20, 100 S. Ct. at 1471-72.

More recently, the Court has been reluctant to create direct causes of action for damages for constitutional violations, especially when there are alternative remedies available to redress the injury. In <u>Bush v. Lucas</u>, 462 U.S. 367, 103 S. Ct. 2404, 76 L. Ed. 2d 648 (1983), the Court refused to allow a damages remedy for violation of a federal employee's First Amendment right to free speech. The Court noted that it was not foreclosed from exercising its judicial power even though Congress had enacted an extensive

regulatory system governing federal employees and providing equitable remedies of reinstatement and back pay for employment actions violating constitutional rights. <u>Id</u>. at 381-91, 103 S. Ct. 2413-17. Using the "special factors" criteria of the <u>Bivens</u> test, the Court declined

to create a new substantive legal liability without legislative aid, . . . because we are convinced that Congress is in a better position to decide whether or not the public interest would be served by creating it.

<u>Id</u>. at 391, 103 S. Ct. at 2417 (citation omitted). This court should likewise and for the same reason decline to create a cause of action for money damages for governmental intrusion.

Because there are "special factors counselling hesitation in the absence of affirmative action by" the Florida legislature, Bivens, 403 U.S. at 397-98, 91 S. Ct. at 2005, this court should defer to the legislature and allow it to balance the conflicting policy considerations and determine whether a damages remedy for governmental intrusion into private life would be appropriate. In fact, this court in Williams v. Smith, 360 So. 2d 417, 420 (Fla. 1978), recognized that some constitutional provisions "require[] so much in the way of definition, delineation of time and procedural requirements, that the intent of the people cannot be carried out without the aid of legislative enactment." (Footnote omitted). Is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Of course, the legislature must first decide whether to waive sovereign immunity for such an action. See the discussion in Issue I. A. above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The provision at issue was article 2, section 8(d), of the Florida Constitution (forfeiture of rights and privileges by public officers convicted of felony breaching public trust).

One example of legislation providing a cause of action for damages for violation of a Florida constitutional right is chapter 934 of the Florida Statutes, which implements the right in article I, section 12 to be free from the unreasonable interception of private communications. In section 934.02(5), "person" is defined to include public employees or agents as well as private actors. In section 934.10(1), the legislature provided a civil cause of action for equitable relief and for actual and punitive damages, costs, and attorneys fees against any person violating the provisions of sections 934.03-.09. In sections 934.10(2) and (3), the legislature identified the absolute defenses available to such an action and the limitations periods for bringing the action. section 934.09, the legislature set out the procedures by which governmental agents can obtain permission to intercept private communications. Clearly, the legislature weighed competing policy considerations in deciding the exact contours of this civil action for damages.

This court should defer to the legislature and allow it to weigh the competing policy considerations and to determine whether and under what conditions a cause of action for damages for governmental intrusion would be appropriate. In addition to the basic policy decisions, the technical aspects of a civil damages action must be addressed, including the availability of defenses, privileges, or immunities; appropriate limitations periods, measure of damages, and damages caps; and the availability of pre-judgment interest, among others. There are "special factors counselling hesitation" on this issue because of the policy and technical

considerations best resolved in a legislative venue, and this court should refuse to create a cause of action for damages for governmental intrusion in the absence of legislative action. Without extensive and detailed guidelines for such a cause of action, this state could experience the danger recognized in <a href="#">Tharp</a> that "the public service would be disrupted and the administration of government would be bottlenecked." 1 So. 2d at 869.

This court should not be persuaded to create a cause of action for damages under the second criteria set out in <u>Bivens</u> because there is an alternative remedy available to redress injuries suffered as a result of governmental intrusions into private life. In <u>Bivens</u>, the Court determined that it would be inappropriate to allow redress against federal officials for violations of the Fourth Amendment under the tort laws of the various states. More recently, however, the Court has recognized that state tort law does provide adequate alternatives to remedy violations of federal constitutional rights.

In <u>Parratt v. Taylor</u>, 451 U.S. 527, 101 S. Ct. 1908, 68 L. Ed. 2d 420 (1981), the Court refused to allow damages in an action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for the negligent deprivation of property. It reasoned, first, that government could not protect against negligence because it is, by its very nature, unforeseeable and, secondly, that there was an adequate remedy under state tort law. In <u>Hudson v. Palmer</u>, 468 So. 2d 517, 104 S. Ct. 3194, 82 L. Ed. 2d 393 (1984), the Court extended this ruling to intentional torts. <u>See also Emory v. Peeler</u>, 756 F.2d 1547, 1554 n. 17 (11th Cir.

1985) (liberty interest in reputation adequately protected by defamation action under Georgia tort law).

Florida has recognized the tort of invasion of privacy since this court's decision in <u>Cason v. Baskin</u>, 155 Fla. 198, 20 So. 2d 243 (1944). Resha and any other person who objects to a governmental intrusion may sue for damages under tort law. The state has waived sovereign immunity in section 768.28, so a litigant can recover damages against the state. The tort action for invasion of privacy is more appropriate than an action for damages under the constitution because the elements of the tort have been developed through decades of judicial decisionmaking and because the legislature has made policy decisions regarding the extent of the government's liability and the conditions attached to the right to recover damages.

Resha protests at pages 24-27 of his brief that a tort remedy for invasion of privacy might not result in the same compensation he would be entitled to under a <u>Bivens</u>-type action and that he might not be able to prove the elements of the tort. Even if this were true, such arguments do not affect the adequacy of the alternative remedy. For example, the Court in <u>Bush v. Lucas</u> assumed that the remedy provided by Congress for protection of the First Amendment rights of federal employees was "less than complete," 462 U.S. at 374, 103 S. Ct. at 2409, and yet it still refused to create a constitutional cause of action for damages. This point was also recognized in <u>Economic Development Corp. v. Stierheim</u>, 782 F.2d 952, 955 (11th Cir. 1986), when the court approved the dismissal of a claim under § 1983: "That EDOC may not

receive the same relief in state courts that it would in federal courts does not require us to hold that the available state law remedies are inadequate." Likewise, this court should find that an adequate remedy in tort exists to compensate for injuries suffered as a result of governmental intrusion.

Both Resha and the American Civil Liberties Union support their arguments that this court should adopt a Bivens-type damages action for governmental intrusion with citation to numerous cases which purportedly recognize the right to sue for money damages for constitutional violations. However, as noted by Resha on pages 22-23 and in note 13 of his brief, the courts of most states have not considered the issue, the courts of four states have refused to create causes of action for damages for constitutional violations, and the courts of only twelve other states have even considered or alluded to the issue. In the cited cases, the courts have variously referred to a direct cause of action for damages in dicta, based their decision on a Bivens-type analysis, recognized a direct cause of action for declaratory and injunctive relief or relief in the form of extraordinary remedies. regardless of whether the courts of other states recognize constitutionally-based damages actions, this court should not consider these decisions persuasive in deciding whether such actions should be judicially created in Florida. Florida's constitutional protection against governmental intrusion is unique. The courts of this state have spent years developing standards by which governmental intrusions are to be measured, and the decisions

of federal or other state courts have no bearing on the development of this right.

This court should approve the holding of the First District Court of Appeal refusing to create a private cause of action for damages for governmental intrusion. Nothing in the jurisprudence of this state supports the conclusion that Florida's fundamental, absolute constitutional right of privacy may be enforced by a damages action without some express constitutional or statutory authorization. Each person in this state has the right to prohibit government from intruding into his or her zone of privacy, or from presuming to make decisions that restrict how he or she will live life, or from disclosing to the public information that is of an intimate and personal nature. Without any legal authority other than that provided in article I, section 23, a natural person can seek injunctive relief to prohibit the government from doing a thing it may not do or to require it to do a thing it must. person can seek a declaration that the authority under which the government acts, whether it is a statute, rule, or policy, is unconstitutional because it authorizes inquiries, intrusions, or disclosures which interfere with those areas of a person's life that he or she deems private. But this court should not act in a legislative capacity to waive sovereign immunity and create a cause of action for damages to remedy violations of this constitutional right, no matter how fundamental and precious.

## II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT RESPONDENT WAS NOT LIABLE FOR DAMAGES FOR DEFAMATION BECAUSE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, HER STATEMENTS WERE ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED.

Resha requests that this court review the ruling of the First District Court of Appeal that respondent acted within the scope of her office and was, therefore, shielded by absolute privilege from liability to Resha for money damages. Tucker, 634 So. 2d at 758-59. This court should refuse to consider this issue even though, because of its review of the certified question, it has jurisdiction over the entire case. See Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1994). Resha simply disagrees with the district court's analysis and conclusion and believes the court to be in Init.Br. at 28, passim. Resha also objects that the district court "steadfastly refused to even consider" what he believes is the central question in this case: Whether respondent's actions were illegal and, therefore, outside the scope of her responsibilities and duties. Id. at 27.

It is presumed that the district court fully considered the arguments presented in reaching its decision to reverse the judgment against respondent on the defamation count. The district court's entire discussion of absolute privilege related to

As Judge John Wiggington observed in <u>State v. Green</u>, 105 So. 2d 817, 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958) (on petition for rehearing):

An opinion should never be prepared merely to refute the arguments advanced by the unsuccessful litigant. For this reason it frequently occurs that an opinion will discuss some phases of a case, but will not mention others. Counsel should not from this fact draw the conclusion that the matters not discussed were not considered.

whether respondent was acting within the scope of her official responsibilities and duties. Tucker, 634 So. 2d at 758-59. Resha argued to the district court that the subject matter of respondent's statements was outside of the scope of her official responsibilities and duties and that respondent's actions were outside the scope of her duties because they violated the law and the internal policies of the Department of Revenue. In fact, every point raised in point II of his brief to this court is simply a more expansive treatment of the arguments presented to the district court. Such reargument would not have been appropriate in a motion for rehearing to the district court; it is even less appropriate for Resha to request that this court grant "rehearing" and disapprove the ruling of the district court on this issue.

Furthermore, there is no independent basis for invoking this court's jurisdiction on the defamation issue. Contrary to Resha's contention on page 1 of his brief, the decision below does not affect "a class of state or constitutional officers." In Spradley v. State, 293 So. 2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1974), this court explained that a decision affects a class of constitutional officers only when the decision "directly and, in some way, exclusively affect[s] the duties, powers, validity, formation, termination or regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officers." (Emphasis in original). This is certainly not the case with the decision below. In addition, the decision does not conflict with any decisions of this or any other court in Florida. The court below merely applied the established rules of absolute privilege in defamation actions to the facts of this case and concluded that, as

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